IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

MEDICAL FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 86,392

LITTLE ARCH CREEK PROPERTIES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

Terrence Russell, Esq. Nancy W. Gregoire, Esq. John R. Keller, Esq. RUDEN, McCLOSKY, SMITH, SCHUSTER & RUSSELL, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 15th Floor 200 East Broward Boulevard Post Office Box 1900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305)764-6660; Miami (305)789-2700 Florida Bar No. 475688

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Based on its Complaint for specific performance of a contract for the purchase and sale of a parcel of real property in Dade County, Florida ("Property"), MFDI recorded a Lis Pendens in Dade County's real property records to protect itself against loss of the Property to another purchaser before the conclusion of the litigation. R15-1, 2. The contract was unrecorded. After LACPI, the owner of the Property and the contract seller to MFDI, was unsuccessful in seeking discharge of the Lis Pendens under section 48.23(3), Florida Statutes 1993), it filed its Motion to Require Plaintiff to Post a Bond and Supporting Memorandum ("Bond Motion"), demanding that MFDI post a bond in excess of \$2.5 million. R15-3-7.

On June 10, 1994, the trial court considered LACPI's Bond Motion. R15-B. LACPI presented evidence of the monetary damage it claimed it would suffer from the placement of the Lis Pendens on its Property but presented no evidence of irreparable harm. The alleged monetary damage consisted of the difference between MFDI's contract price and the contract price of another potential purchaser. MFDI, citing this Court's decision in *Chiusolo v. Kennedy*, 614 So. 2d 491, 492-93 (Fla. 1993), argued that it should not be required to post a bond because the controlling case law required a showing of irreparable harm before a lis pendens bond could be required and LACPI had not met its burden of proof. LACPI argued in part that such a requirement makes no sense.

On June 16, 1994, the trial court entered its Order Directing Plaintiff to Post a Bond. R15-8. In the Order, the trial court found that no showing of irreparable harm was necessary and that LACPI's potential monetary damage was \$1 million, the difference between the prices offered by MFDI and its competitor for LACPI's Property. R15-8. MFDI thereafter filed its Lis Pendens bond and appealed the Order to the Third District Court of Appeal. R01-05.

On appeal, MFDI again argued that *Chuisolo*, 614 So. 2d at 492-93, and various cases from Florida's intermediate appellate courts require that the opponent of a lis pendens show irreparable harm before the court may require the lis pendens proponent to post a bond. R14. LACPI again claimed no showing of irreparable harm is necessary. R16.

On March 15, 1995, the Third District filed its Opinion affirming the Bond Order. R34; *Medical Facilities Development, Inc. v. Little Arch Creek Properties, Inc.*, 656 S. 2d 1300 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). The Opinion holds that a lis pendens bond is required in <u>every case</u> under section 48.23(3), where the action involving the lis pendens is not founded on a recorded instrument or mechanic's lien. However, the Opinion also recognizes that Florida's other district courts of appeal take different approaches on the issue and specifically delineates three distinct approaches. With respect to *Chuisolo*, the Opinion finds that this Court's language regarding the requirement of irreparable harm is dicta which it is not bound to follow. MFDI's Motions for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, and Suggestion of Questions of Great Public Importance were denied. R37-56, 57-69, 70-88, 101. The Mandate issued on August 18, 1995. R102.

MFDI sought this Court's discretionary review on the basis of the express and direct conflict recognized in the Opinion. R103-104. On January 9, 1996, this Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument. R105.

2

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Does section 48.23(3), Florida Statutes (1993), require a party who records a notice of lis pendens in an action not founded on a duly recorded instrument or a mechanics lien to post a bond in the absence of any showing of irreparable harm by the opponent of the notice of lis pendens?

If the answer to the first question presented is no, may a court require the party who records a notice under section 48.23(3) to post a bond in the absence of any showing of irreparable harm by the opponent of the notice of lis pendens?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"Control" of a notice of lis pendens pursuant to section 48.23(3) requires a balance of the interests of the courts, the public, innocent third parties, and of the proponent and opponent of the notice. The statutory reference to injunctions indicates a legislative intent that Florida trial courts exercise their equitable discretion to "control and discharge" notices of lis pendens by answering two questions: when, and under what circumstances, may notices of lis pendens remain of record in the absence of a pleading based on a recorded instrument or mechanics lien? The answer to the first question was provided by this Court in *Chiusolo*, 614 So. 2d at 491, where the Court held that the existence of the notice is dependent on a showing of "fair nexus" between the pleading and the property.

This case presents the second question: under what circumstances may a notice not based on a recorded instrument or mechanics lien remain of record once a "fair nexus" is shown? The Third District's answer to the question--that every notice under section 48.23(3) must be supported by a bond despite the absence of any showing of irreparable harm by the opponent of the notice--provides no balance of or protection for the various interests involved in lis pendens proceedings and fails entirely to fulfill the purposes of the statutory protection. The Third District's approach leads invariably to a conclusion, as a matter of law, that the balance of the equities and interests must favor the opponent over those of the public, third parties, and the proponent. Such a rule ignores the policy reasons for the notice of lis pendens, contradicts the language and intent of the statute, and conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the other district courts of appeal. Contrary to the conclusion of the Third District, irreparable harm is an integral part of the analysis.

Irreparable harm in the context of a notice of lis pendens means loss of property which is of unique value, loss of other property, or harm which is unreasonably disproportionate to a trivial claim. A showing of irreparable harm is possible by the proponent or by the opponent of the notice. Requiring such a showing by the opponent as a condition precedent to requiring the proponent to post a bond serves several of the purposes for which the doctrine exists. First, it protects third parties by ensuring that the notice will remain of record in the absence of a grave harm to the property owner. Second, it protects the proponent by ensuring that the property will likely not be lost during the litigation.

On the other hand, if the opponent cannot show irreparable harm, then it follows that the only potential damage to the property owner is monetary and no bond should be required. This is the usual situation where specific performance of a contract for purchase and sale is involved since the potential seller has already liquidated its damages by placing a sale price on the property. In that situation, the potential buyer is the party that may suffer the irreparable harm of losing the property during the litigation if the notice does not remain of record because of the requirement imposed by the Third District's decision.

Requiring a showing of irreparable harm by the proponent of the notice also serves a purpose. In the absence of such a showing, the lis pendens proponent's interest is just as easily protected by a bond to which the notice may be transferred--thereby freeing the property itself. This is the usual scenario in cases involving allegations of equitable lien and constructive trust, where the proponent seeks only recovery of money damages out of the property as opposed to the property itself. In

that situation, there is no reason to cloud title to the property if the opponent is willing to transfer the claim to a bond.

In a third scenario, neither proponent nor opponent may be able to show irreparable harm. In that case, the court should be free to exercise its greatest discretion in requiring or refusing to require a bond for either party. Nothing in the statutory history suggests a bond is required in all cases involving a lis pendens. Finally, if both parties make a showing of irreparable harm, the court also has broad discretion to require both parties, or neither, to post bonds.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE PURPOSES OF THE DOCTRINE AND THE NOTICE.

A. The Doctrine and the Notice of Lis Pendens Allow for the Protection of the Power of the Courts, the Public Interest, Innocent Third Parties, and the Proponent and Opponent of the Notice.

1. <u>The Doctrine Protects the Power of the Courts</u> and the Public Interest.

The doctrine of lis pendens recognizes the court's control over property involved in a lawsuit.

The term "lis pendens" literally implies a pending suit. The doctrine of lis pendens is defined as the jurisdiction, power, or control which courts acquire over property involved in a suit pending the continuance of the action and until final judgment therein.

DePass v. Chitty, 90 Fla. 77, 105 So. 148, 149 (1925); accord, Intermediary Finance Corp. v. McKay, 93 Fla. 101, 111 So. 531, 531-32 (1927); 35 FLA. JUR. 2D Lis Pendens § 1 (1995); 51 AM.JUR.2D Lis Pendens § 1 (1995). 54 C.J.S. Lis Pendens § 2 (1995).

The doctrine of lis pendens provides the legal system with the control and assurance that judgments may be carried out, and property in litigation be subjected to the judgment. "The doctrine of lis pendens is based on a practical need to bind third parties claiming an interest in property to the outcome of the pending litigation." Richard Powell and Patrick Rohan, 7 *Powell on Real Property* ¶ 907.1[1] (1995); *accord DePass*, 105 So. at 149.

This power of the courts serves an important public interest in ensuring that a court's decision regarding title to property is enforceable. In the absence of such a doctrine and the priority it provides in judicial proceedings, a court's decision would

be largely advisory if title to property changed hands to innocent third parties during the course of litigation. Moreover, enforcement of that decision would require further litigation regarding priority of interest.

2. <u>The Notice Protects Innocent Third Parties.</u>

Consistent with the power the doctrine gives the courts, the notice ameliorates the potentially harsh effect of the doctrine upon bona fide purchasers or encumbrancers who would otherwise be bound by the doctrine without effective notice. 51 AM.JUR.2D *Lis Pendens* § 7 (1995); 54 C.J.S. *Lis Pendens* § 6 (1995). As a result of the doctrine, "a person who deals with property while it is in litigation does so at his peril." 51 AM.JUR.2D *Lis Pendens* § 1 (1995).

Although the notice does not create the court's power over property pending litigation, it serves as warning to prospective purchasers and encumbrancers that any interest they may acquire in the property will be subject to the doctrine's effect on the judgment finally entered. *Intermediary Finance Corp.*, 111 So. at 532; Powell et al., 7 *Powell on Real Property* ¶ 907.6[1] (1995).

When a suit is filed that could affect title in property, some notice should be given to future purchasers or encumbrances of that property....

Chiusolo, 614 So. 2d at 492; see also Commodore Plaza at Century 21 Condominium Association, Inc. v. Century 21 Commodore Plaza, Inc., 290 So. 2d 539, 540 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) (protection of prospective purchasers is a primary purpose for the notice of lis pendens). The notice of lis pendens exists "at least in part to prevent third party purchasers from buying a lawsuit." *Chiusolo*, 614 So. 2d at 492 n. 1.

8

3. <u>The Doctrine and the Notice Protect the Lis</u> <u>Pendens Proponent.</u>

The doctrine is important to the lis pendens proponent: "[W]ithout such a rule, it would be possible to defeat the judgment by a conveyance to some stranger, and the plaintiff would be forced to commence a new action against him." Grant Nelson, Grant, and Whitman, Dale, *Real Estate Finance Law*, 3d Ed. (1993). Thus, "if the defendant alienated [the property subject to the lis pendens] during the pendency of the suit, the judgment in the real action overreached the alienation." *DePass*, 105 So. at 149.

In sum, unlike a typical injunction, the lis pendens exists as much to warn third parties as to protect the plaintiff, and the procedural requirements associated with lis pendens should advance both of these important purposes.

Chiusolo, 614 So. 2d at 492. The notice is also important to the proponent, in lessening the chances that the proponent will face further litigation to effectuate a favorable judgment.

Neither the doctrine nor the notice of lis pendens, however, is equivalent to an injunction against the conveyance of the property. *Cacaro v. Swan*, 394 So. 2d 538, 539 (Fla. 4th DCA), *rev. dismissed*, 402 So. 2d 608 (Fla. 1981), *disapproved on other grounds*, *Chuisolo*, 614 So. 2d at 493; *see also Orange County v. Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation*, *Ltd.*, 52 F.3d 821, 825 (9th Cir. 1995) (under California law, lis pendens is not an injunction, nor has it the "practical effect" of an injunction; lis pendens is neither directed to a party nor enforceable by contempt); *Whitney National Bank v. McCrossen*, 635 So. 2d 401, 403 (La. Ct. App.), *writ denied*, 639 So. 2d 1164 (La. 1994) (lis pendens is not attachment, injunction, execution, or pre-judgment seizure); *Whelan v. J.T.T. Contractors, Inc.*, 547 N.Y.S.2d

111, 112 (N.Y. App. Div. 1989); Colombo v. Caiati, 493 N.Y.S.2d 244, 246 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1985). Compare Conservatory--City of Refuge v. Kinney, 514 So. 2d 377, 378 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (temporary injunction against developing, alienating, conveying, or encumbering real property pending the outcome of a lawsuit determining title).

It has been observed that the doctrine and notice of lis pendens, although not equivalent to an injunction, may cloud the title to or constrain the alienability of property. *Cacaro*, 394 So. 2d at 539; *Mohican Valley, Inc. v. MacDonald*, 443 So. 2d 479, 481 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). However, such constraint is one of the proper and salutary purposes of the statutory notice of lis pendens. A prudent prospective buyer or encumbrancer would, in most cases, be properly reluctant to acquire an interest in property, knowing that such interest will be subject to the outcome of the litigation. For example, it is a beneficial policy that the existence of a prior, specifically enforceable, contract to purchase property should "cloud" and constrain a conveyance to a subsequent prospect until title disputes have been resolved.

4. <u>The Doctrine Allows Protection for the Interests</u> of the Property Owner.

Although the purpose of the lis pendens is to protect the public, innocent third parties, and the proponent, the doctrine also permits consideration of the interests of the property owner. *Chiusolo*, 614 So. 2d at 493. In Florida, numerous protections are available for a court's use. For instance, if the judgment would not affect the owner's interest in the real property, this Court has recognized that the plaintiff cannot establish a "fair nexus" and has said that the lis pendens must be discharged as improper. *Id.* at 492. The protection is well-established. *See, e.g., Lennar Florida*

Holdings, Inc. v. First Family Bank, 660 So. 2d 1122, 1124 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); Lazzara v. Molins, 504 So. 2d 13, 14 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Bay Place Development Corporation v. Ellis First National Bank of West Pasco, N.A., 465 So. 2d 628, 629 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Lake Placid Holding Co. v. Paparone, 414 So. 2d 564, 566 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Worldwide Development--Kendale Lakes West v. Lot Headquarters, Inc., 305 So. 2d 271, 272 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); Commodore Plaza, 290 So. 2d at 540.

Attorneys fees may be recovered for expenses incurred in the removal of a lis pendens filed in bad faith. Haisfield v. ACP Florida Holdings, Inc., 629 So. 2d 963, 967 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). An intentional wrongful filing of a notice of lis pendens may support an action for slander of title or malicious prosecution. Bothmann v. Harrington, 458 So. 2d 1163, 1168 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Palmer v. Shelby Plaza Motel, Inc., 443 So. 2d 285, 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Atkinson v. Fundaro, 400 So. 2d 1324, 1326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Sanctions under section 57.105(a), Florida Statutes (1995), or grievance procedures under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, may be available. McMurray v. U-Haul Co., Inc., 425 So. 2d 1208, 1210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). In Chiusolo, 614 So. 2d at 492 n. 3, the Court noted in dicta that the property owner might obtain discharge of the notice "where sufficient measures have been taken to protect the interests claimed by the plaintiff. ..." Cf. Gay v. Gay, 604 So. 2d 904, 906 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (requiring opponent of notice to escrow sale proceeds for proponent's protection as a condition of partially canceling notice); *Commodore Plaza*, 290 So. 2d at 540 (requiring that opponent escrow sale proceeds sufficient to pay proponent's lien claims as a condition of canceling notice). The great expense to the plaintiff of maintaining a questionable lawsuit gives some practical protection.

In addition to the other protections recognized by Florida cases, a lis pendens proponent may be required to post a bond to protect the property owner from harm which might arise from the existence of the lis pendens. In *Chiusolo*, 614 So. 2d at 493, this Court noted in dicta that a bond was available under "appropriate circumstances" if the opponent of the lis pendens could establish "irreparable harm" should the lis pendens be allowed to remain. Florida district courts of appeal have taken various approaches to determining when a bond is appropriate. The approaches have ranged from always requiring a bond to allowing the trial court broad discretion even where irreparable harm is shown. *Medical Facilities*, 656 So. 2d at 1304; *Mohican Valley*, 443 So. 2d at 481.

B. <u>The Third District's Erroneous Approach to the Bond</u> <u>Requirement Does Not Serve the Purposes of the Doctrine and</u> <u>the Notice.</u>

The approach adopted by the Third District in this case, and now before this Court for review, is to require a lis pendens bond in every circumstance where the lis pendens is not founded on a recorded instrument or mechanics lien. *Medical Facilities*, 656 So. 2d at 1304. According to the Opinion, the Third District is of the view that no showing of irreparable harm is necessary and that the lis pendens proponent's inability to post a bond must result in cancellation of the notice with no regard for the harm to the proponent.

The approach of the Third District, to condition the existence of the notice upon the proponent's ability to post a bond, ignores and puts at risk the interests of third parties whose protection is one of the main purposes of the notice. Furthermore, contrary to the Third District's apparent conclusion, cancellation of a notice of lis pendens because of the proponent's inability to post a bond may not result in the

relief anticipated by the Third District or urged by the property owner. Just as merely filing a notice of lis pendens does not enjoin transfer of property, so merely canceling the notice on the proponent's inability to post a bond will not necessarily facilitate a sale or encumbrance, particularly if the operative pleading frames a claim against the property. A title examiner's search of the property records should reveal the existence of the canceled notice in any event and prompt investigation of the underlying lawsuit. A prospective purchaser or encumbrancer would then be on actual notice of, and be bound by, the outcome of the lawsuit regardless of the cancellation or expiration of the notice. See Lassiter v. Curtiss-Bright Co., 129 Fla. 728, 177 So. 201, 203 (1937); Crown Corporation v. Robinson, 128 Fla. 249, 174 So. 737, 739 (1937); Hough v. Stewart, 543 So. 2d 1279, 1281 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Chafetz v. Price, 385 So. 2d 104, 106 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). If the lawsuit giving rise to the lis pendens is still pending, a prudent potential buyer would be reluctant to acquire an interest in the property until the litigation has been resolved. A title insurance exception would be proper and defensible. Fund Title Notes, TN 12.05.05 (Attorney's Title Insurance Fund, Inc., 1994).

For a second reason, cancellation may not be effective to accomplish the property owner's goal. If a dispute involves competing purchasers, both are likely to have actual knowledge of, and therefore be bound by, the lawsuit. *E.g., Coates v. Hall*, 429 So. 2d 761, 762 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). The title insurance policy exception for a "contract known to exist though unrecorded" would then create a de facto notice and likely prevent closing. *Fund Title Notes*, TN 9.02.01 (Attorney's Title Insurance Fund, Inc., 1994). On the other hand, cancellation of the notice may deceive innocent or unsophisticated third parties, whose protection is a primary purpose for the notice,

Chuisolo, 614 So. 2d at 492, or engender a protracted series of lawsuits by persons claiming--either honestly or disingenuously--to be bona fide purchasers.

According to this Court, once it is established that a pleading states a "fair nexus" to property involved in litigation, the lis pendens proponent has met the burden to maintain a lis pendens on the affected property. *Chiusolo*, 614 So. 2d at 492. The issue before the Court now is the bond issue treated only by dicta in *Chiusolo*. The approach of the Third District on the second lis pendens issue ignores the purposes of the doctrine and the notice, and prejudices the lis pendens proponent.

II. CONDITIONING THE REQUIREMENT OF A LIS PENDENS BOND ON A SHOWING OF IRREPARABLE HARM IS EQUITABLE, LOGICAL, AND PRACTICAL.

A. <u>"Control" of the Notice Under Section 48,23(3) Requires</u> <u>Balancing of the Equities and Interests Involved In The</u> <u>Proceedings.</u>

In section 48.23, Florida Statutes (1993), the Florida Legislature established broad, general guidelines for use by the courts in determining when and under what circumstances to permit the recordation of notices of lis pendens. When a pleading is founded on a recorded instrument, the statute recognizes that the proponent is entitled to place and keep a lis pendens upon the property involved in the litigation. § 48.23(1), Fla. Stat. (1993). When the initial pleading is not founded on a recorded instrument, however, section 48.23(3) allows a court to "control and discharge the notice of lis pendens as the court may grant and dissolve injunctions." The meaning of the language was left to the courts to construe and enforce.

As the Third District recognized in *Medical Facilities*, 656 So. 2d at 1302-03, over the years Florida's intermediate appellate courts have expressed various views, often in dicta, on the inclusion of the injunction language in the statute. One approach requires the opponent to show the necessity of a bond to protect it from irreparable harm. *Sparks v. Charles Wayne Group*, 568 So. 2d 512, 517 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); *Feinstein v. Dolene*, 455 So. 2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); *Florida Communities Hutchinson Island v. Arabia*, 452 So. 2d 1131, 1132(Fla. 4th DCA 1984); *Glusman v. Warren*, 413 So. 2d 857, 858 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). A second approach has generally given the trial court discretion to require a bond "in case the lawsuit fails" and "if the lis pendens places a cloud on the title." *Mohican Valley, Inc.*, 443 So. 2d at 481; *Andre Pirio Associates v. Parkmount Properties, Inc., N.V.*,

15

453 So. 2d 1184, 1186 (Fla.2d DCA 1984); *CAM Corp. of Broward v. Goldberger*, 368 So. 2d 56, 57 (Fla. 4th DCA), *cert. denied*, 378 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 1979); *see also Bailey v. Rolling Meadow Ranch, Inc.*, 566 So.2d 63, 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (recognizing "cloud on title" criterion). A third approach, that adopted by the Third District, simply holds that a bond is always required. *Medical Facilities*, 656 So. 2d at 1304; *Porter Homes, Inc. v. Soda*, 540 So. 2d 195, 196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); *Machado v. Foreign Trade, Inc.*, 537 So. 2d 607, 607 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); *Munilla v. Espinoza*, 533 So. 2d 895, 895 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); *Nero v. Nero*, 475 So. 2d 1361, 1361-62 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); *Sunrise Point, Inc. v. Foss*, 373 So. 2d 438, 493 (Fla. 3d DCA), *cert. denied*, 374 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 1979).

This Court has not decided the question directly. Analysis of the approaches of other jurisdictions on the issue, however, dictates that the Court's conclusion in *Chiusolo*, albeit dicta, was correct. A requirement of a showing of irreparable harm by the opponent of the lis pendens before requiring a bond from the proponent is the only equitable, logical, and practical approach. In combination with that approach, a bond may also be required of the opponent if the proponent of the notice makes a showing of irreparable harm. In the absence of any potential for irreparable harm, no bond should be required.

1. <u>Section 48.23(3) Gives the Courts Equitable</u> Jurisdiction To Control Notices of Lis Pendens.

Although the statute refers to injunctions in providing for a court's discretionary jurisdiction over notices of lis pendens, the statute does not state whether the proponent or the opponent of the lis pendens should be deemed a seeker of, or an opponent of, injunctive relief; nor whether a bond is required; nor which, if

either, party should post a bond; nor the circumstances under which a bond should be imposed. The only way to interpret the legislative intent behind the statute is to analyze the status of injunctive relief at the time the lis pendens statute was enacted.

The language of section 48.23(3) is substantially unchanged since its first enactment in 1927. CGL 4550 (1927). At that time, injunction proceedings were defined by Comprehensive General Laws of Florida 4967-75 (1927), formerly Revised General Statutes of Florida 3175-83 (1920). Pursuant to those statutes, injunctions might issue without bond where the complainant was unable to give a bond or other security. CGL 4969 (1927). A defendant might also move the court for dissolution of an injunction. CGL 4971 (1927). As now, the granting and continuing of injunctions was held to rest in the sound judicial discretion of the court; it was "not a matter of course" to dissolve an injunction even where all the equities of the bill were denied by the answer. Godwin v. Phifer, 51 Fla. 441, 41 So. 597, 602 (1906); Linton v. Denham, 6 Fla. 533, 545 (1856). As now, within the court's discretion, the rights of the general public would be considered. Suwanee & S.P.R. Co. v. West Coast Ry. Co., 50 Fla. 609, 39 So. 538, 538 (1905). Where the plaintiff might suffer irreparable injury, the injunction would be continued. Linton v. Denham, 6 Fla. at 546. Upon a motion to dissolve an injunction, either party had the right to introduce evidence. CGL 4970 (1927).

By its reference to granting and discharging injunctions, the legislature must have intended that the courts would exercise considerable discretion; would balance the equities of the parties, avoiding irreparable harm to either; would consider the interests of the public at large; would consider any evidence which either plaintiff or defendant chose to present; and might--or might not--require a bond. The legislature

could have required a prior hearing--but did not; could have specified conditions--but did not; and could have required a bond--but did not.

2. <u>The Factors Involved in Controlling Notices of</u> <u>Lis Pendens Are Those Involved in Controlling</u> <u>Injunctions.</u>

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