OA 4.8.96

CASE NO. 86,392

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 22 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Citter Deputy Offerk

MEDICAL FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

LITTLE ARCH CREEK PROPERTIES, INC.,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 86,392

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT - NO. 94-1662

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STANLEY A. BEILEY, ESQ.
HORNSBY, SACHER, ZELMAN,
STANTON, PAUL & BEILEY, P.A.
1401 Brickell Avenue
Seventh Floor/Suite 700
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 371-8797

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT LITTLE ARCH CREEK PROPERTIES, INC.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The standard for review of an order requiring a lis pendens bond is whether the trial court abused its discretion. The evidence presented at the bond hearing showed that Medical's lis pendens was preventing a sale of LACP's medical office building to Mt. Sinai for \$1 million more than Medical's offer. There was no abuse of discretion in requiring Medical to post a \$1 million bond to protect LACP from the lis pendens.

Although a lis pendens is technically a notice to the world of pending litigation, practically it has the same effect as an injunction. The notice of lis pendens "handcuffs" a property owner from selling or mortgaging the affected property because it places a cloud on title. A property owner's only meaningful protection is to require the lis pendens filer to post a bond to protect the owner's property rights in the event the lis pendens is found to be unjustified.

Medical's argument that a bond should be required only if the lis pendens causes the property owner "irreparable harm," meaning harm that cannot be monetarily compensated, has no support in the better reasoned Florida decisions, serves no legitimate purpose, and frankly makes no sense. Irreparable harm is a term used in injunction actions, but the requirements of an injunction and a lis pendens are not parallel. Under the approach urged by Medical, a property owner would first have to prove the lis pendens caused solely non-monetary damages and then would have to quantify the

non-monetary damages in order to fix the amount of the bond. How does one quantify non-monetary damages?

The better rule is to require a lis pendens bond to protect the property owner from damages he will foreseeably sustain as a result of the recording of the lis pendens should the lis pendens be ultimately determined to be unjustified.

ARGUMENT

A. THE STANDARD FOR REVIEW OF AN ORDER REQUIRING A LIS PENDENS BOND IS ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION HERE.

Where a suit for specific performance is based upon a written contract and not upon a duly recorded instrument or a mechanic's lien, Section 48.23, Florida Statutes allows a court to deal with a lis pendens as it may deal with injunctions. <u>CAM Corp. of Broward v. Goldberger</u>, 368 So.2d 56 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>cert. denied</u>, 378 So.2d 343 (Fla. 1979). The fixing of the amount of an injunction bond is a discretionary matter. "Clearly the requirement of a bond in an injunction proceeding is within the sound discretion of the trial court. The same rationale extends to ... a lis pendens based on a contract." CAM Corp., 368 So.2d at 57.

An appellate court should not interfere with a trial court's discretion in dealing with injunctions where no abuse of discretion appears. U.S. Mfg. and Galvanizing Corp. v. Renfrow, 592 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (citing Alachua County v. Lewis Oil Co., Inc., 516 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Cunningham v. Dozer, 159 So.2d 105 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963); and Executive Uniform Rental, Inc. v. Sanitary Linen Service Co. of Florida, 265 So.2d 392 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 270 So.2d 742 (Fla. 1972)).

There was no abuse of discretion here. The record demonstrates that Medical's lis pendens blocked a sale to Mt. Sinai for \$1 million more than Medical was willing to pay and setting a lis pendens bond in that amount was certainly proper.

B. THE PURPOSE OF A LIS PENDENS BOND IS TO PROTECT A PROPERTY OWNER FROM HARM CAUSED BY THE IMPROPER FILING OF A LIS PENDENS.

Medical's brief suggests that a lis pendens is a rather benign creature designed to protect the courts, the public, third parties and the lis pendens proponent. Medical goes so far to state that the lis pendens doctrine allows for protection of the property owner because the property owner whose property is determined to be wrongfully encumbered by the lis pendens, can bring a later independent suit for slander of title, file a bar grievance complaint, or seek F.S. 57.105(a) sanctions. MBR 10-11.

Far from being benign, a lis pendens has the potential of causing severe damage to a property owner.

"One court has termed a lis pendens a "practical blackjack." A legislative committee recently dubbed "[1]is pendens ... the 'nuclear weapon' of property disputes.""

Judge David M. Gersten, The Doctrine of Lis Pendens: The Need for a Balance, The Florida Bar Journal, June 1995, at 83.

As a practical matter, a lis pendens effectively clouds title to realty and prevents an owner from selling or encumbering the affected property. In Florida, the lis pendens is binding through the appeal process and thus a lis pendens can tie up property for several years while a case winds its way through the court system. Hough v. Stewart, 543 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Judge Gersten, supra at 85. In many cases, parties who purchase real property do so through newly formed corporations or as trustee, so it is hardly practical to advocate that a property owner whose

property is tied up for years by a wrongful lis pendens can sue for slander of title, etc. and therefore doesn't need a bond.

There is no harm in requiring a bond of a lis pendens proponent who proceeds on an unrecorded claim which damages a property owner. If the plaintiff wins, the cost of the bond can be taxed in his favor. If the plaintiff loses, the property owner has meaningful, not illusory, protection. As Florida courts have held on numerous occasions, the bond requirement is a vehicle for protecting the property owner just as the lis pendens protects the plaintiff and third parties. Chiusolo v. Kennedy, 614 So.2d 491 (Fla. 1993) (citing Sparks v. Charles Wayne Group, 568 So.2d 512 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)); Nero v. Nero, 475 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

C. NO FLORIDA COURT HAS HELD THAT A LIS PENDENS BOND SHOULD BE REQUIRED ONLY UPON A SHOWING OF NON-MONETARY INJURY TO THE PROPERTY OWNER AND SUCH A REQUIREMENT SERVES NO LEGITIMATE PURPOSE.

Medical's argument in point II of its brief has as its basic premise that the phrase "irreparable injury" as used in the Chiusolo dicta means non-monetary harm and that the better policy in the lis pendens area is to require a property owner to prove the lis pendens caused non-monetary harm to the affected property before a bond is required. Medical, while admitting the unique nature of Florida's lis pendens statute, nevertheless cites numerous out-of-state cases to support its position. MBR 20-24. Medical argues that "irreparable harm" in the injunction area means non-monetary harm and, therefore, must have the same meaning in the lis pendens/bond area. In any event, Medical urges that the irreparable (i.e., non-monetary) harm test is the proper way to consider all interests and achieve fair and just results.

Medical's basic premises is flawed both legally and practically. Both <u>Chiusolo</u> and <u>Sparks</u>, the main Florida cases relied upon by Medical, point out that the requirements of an injunction and lis pendens are <u>not</u> parallel. <u>Sparks</u>, 568 So.2d at 517; <u>Chiusolo</u>, 614 So.2d at 492. Judge Barkdull in his concurring opinion below correctly observed that in the injunction area, the party who seeks the injunction (normally the plaintiff) must show irreparable injury in order to obtain the injunction. The party enjoined (usually the defendant) is entitled to a bond for

protection against loss if it is ultimately determined that the temporary injunction was wrongfully entered.

The defendant's right to an injunction bond should not be conditioned upon defendant demonstrating an irreparable harm, rather it should be conditioned upon the defendant demonstrating the potential loss or damage it will incur if it is determined that the temporary injunction was wrongly imposed. Medical Facilities, 656 So.2d at 1306 (citing Mohican Valley, Inc. v. MacDonald, 443 So.2d 479 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)).

It is illogical to require a property owner to show irreparable injury or non-monetary harm as a condition for a lis pendens bond. First, it is difficult to find realistic examples of how only non-monetary harm can affect a property burdened by a lis pendens. Judge Green, in her dissent below, found an example of irreparable injury in C.W. Bailey v. Rolling Meadow, 566 So.2d 63 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), dealing with a lis pendens on fifty bulls. But bulls have monetary value. If you went to buy one, surely there would be a price. Medical's example of irreparable injury is Gay v. Gay, 604 So.2d 904 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), where a lis pendens was lifted on a small parcel of a large tract so the small parcel could be sold to pay off a defaulted mortgage which encumbered the entire tract. But the small parcel and the entire tract each must have had monetary value and the mortgage amount was certainly determinable so how is this an example of non-monetary harm?

Second, even if there may be some rare and isolated instances of irreparable (non-monetary) harm to property, in what amount should the bond be set to compensate the owner for his non-monetary

damages? Or, to put it another way, how does one first prove that a lis pendens causes only non-monetary damages and then determine a monetary amount for the bond. Proof of the two is inconsistent.

The better rule is to require a bond where the property owner can show damage or injury to the affected property caused by the lis pendens. In this case LACP established that the lis pendens prevented a sale of its property for \$1 million more than Medical would pay. The court set the bond at \$1 million. Surely that was correct.

CONCLUSION

The opinion of the Third District should be affirmed.

STANLEY A. BEILEY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 004848

HORNSBY, SACHER, ZELMAN, STANTON, PAUL & BEILEY, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent, Little Arch Creek Properties, Inc. Seventh Floor/Suite 700 Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 371-8797 Telecopier: (305) 374-2605